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Lote Owner

) Ambler, Josoph P.
2 Amont, ELi
3 Bollunce, Jemes
4 Bouman, Henry
5 Boumgardner, Thos-#1
6 Boumgoardner, Thos-#2
7 Bousmoan, Jacob
8 Baxter, Allen D,

9 Bayly, John

10 Beor, Martin

11 Beck, George

12 Becker, Valentine
13 Beiler, George

14 Bondor, Charies M.
15 Bender, Joseph R.
16 Bieseckor, J.- M.
17 Binkley, Christ

18 Bixler, Abram

19 Bonholtzer, John
20 Bossler, John
21 Boyer, Louis
22 Brobson, Evan
23 Bradley, B. Frank
24 Breneman, Adom
25 Breneman, Eimer F.
26 Breneman, Henry
27 Bruboker, H. Lee
28 Brubgker, Isaac L.
29 Ruch, George
290 Buch, Moses

30 Burkholder, John R.
31 Bushong, Isaac G.
32 Bushong, Milton R.
33 Cassel, H. H.

34 Clair, Wolter

35 Clymer, Doniel C.
36 Coleman, Robert
37 Connelly, Joseph
37a Conner, §. Leo
38 Cooney, Thomos
39 Cooper, Jeremiah
40 Cooper, Morris

41 Corl, Harey

42 Cramer, Jomes K.
43 Cromer, Wifliom H.
44 Denlinger, Abram
45 Dilfenbaugh, Murald
46 Dillinger, H, K.

47 Doerstler, Fred

48 Eberly, Hiram S.
49 Eberly, Nathan C.
50 Eby, Bonjomin

51 Engle, Jocob

52 Erb, John M.

53 Erb, Oscar J..

54 Eshbach, Harry H.
55 Eshleman, Eugene
56 Eshlemaon, Silos K.
57 Evans, Nathan

58 Fockler, D. A,

Name of Stream

Conowingo Cr.

Conestoge Cr. (WB)

Pickens Run
Conostogo R.
Pequea Cr,
Pequea Cr,
Conostogo R,
Burt Run
Donegal Cr,
Boaver Cr.
Beaver Gr.
Small Stream
Smcli Strecm

Conestoga Cr. (WB)

Big Chickies Cr.
Devil’s Run
Conestoga R.
Mode Run

Miil Cr,

Beaver G,
Harnish Run
Racecoon Cr..
Conowingo Cr.
Conoy Cr.
Furnoce Run
Furnoce Run
Swamp Cr.
Swarr's Run
Hemmer G.
Cartor's Run
Conastoga Cr.
Lititz Cr,
Conestogo R.
8ig Chickies Cr,
Middle Cr,
Conestoga R.
Furnoce Run

Big Chickies Cr.
Nickel Mine Cr.
Petors Cr.
Nickel Mine Cr.
Nickel Mine Cr.

Cocalico Cr.
Fishing ce.'
Fishing Cr.
Calemus Run
Conowingo Cr.
Small Streom

Conestoga Cr. (WB)

Middle Cr.
Conestoga R.
Pequea Cr,
Conoy Cr.
Big Chickies Cr.
Tuecquen Cr.
Conestoga Cr.
Pequea Cr.
London Run
Conestogo R,
Shock’s Run

Name of Mill
Ambler

Qok Shade
White Holl
Beumgardner

Edwin Diffenbough

Wabenk
Buena Vista

Beor
Beck
Becker

Bender
Chickies Valley

Binkley's Bridge

Bixler Grist & Sow

Fertility Roller

Boyer

Kirk's

Quoker Burr
Brenemon
Snyder Hollow
Run Volley
Roinholdsville
Brubaker
Buch

Buch
Abbeyville
Rothsville
Bushong
Cassel Stone
Durlach
Clymer
Furnace Run
White Ook

Cooney

Green Tree

Georgetown Burr
& Greon Tree

Cocolico

Drumore

Cramer

Red

Goshen

Sporting Hill

Manor Roller

Cloy Rolles

W, Earl Flour

Paradise

Newtown
Tucquon
Willow Grove
Evergreen
London Vale
Pool Forge
Rowenna

CHAPTER

il — CHART |

Height Type
Size of in of
Township Mill  Stories Mill
Fulton 36x52 ri St,
Manor 42x50 3% St
L. Britoin 30x57 2l Fr.
Coernarvon 40x80 32 s
Pequeo 20x40 2% St.
Pequea 40x60 2% St-Fr,
Manor 40x60 2% Sh
sﬂlisblny 42x44 3% St,
Donegal 25x40 1% Leog
Strasburg 25x40 1'% Log
Providence 40x40 22 Fr.
Warwick 28x50 h Fr,
Solisbury
Manor 35x40 3% St.,
W. Hemplield 40x100 2% St-Fr.
Conoy 40x60 34 St.
Monheim 30x60 3% st
Brecknock 2! St-Fr.
Strasburg 45x45 2% Br.
Eden 50x130 3% St-Fr,
W. Cocalico 40x60 2% Fr.
L. Britain 40x60 24 Br.
Fulton 24x30 1% Leg
Donegal 60x80 3% s
Providence 40x40 2% Fr.
Providence 40x50 2% St.
W. Cocolico 45x45 2% St.
E. Homplield 40x40 % Br.
Warwick 50x90 ki) St
Manheim 40x60 2}4 Fr.
Menor 4060 2% St
Warwick 42x60 2% St
U. Leacock 60x80 3% st
Penn 60x60 3N St-Fr.
Clay 30x50 2% St.
Caernarvon, Berks Co. 2 Fr.
Elizabeth 40x40 2% S,
Penn 25x40 2 Block
Eden 3% Fr.
Fulton 30x50 2% S,
Bart 40x80 1% St.
Bart 30x60 1% St.
W. Cocalico 30x60 2/h 51,
Orumore 35x40 2% Fr,
Drumore 40x50 24 Br.
Strasburg 30x50 2% St-Fr.
Fulton 36x42 2% Fr,
Rapho 40x60 2% Fr.
Manor Dx80 3% Br.
Clay 36x48 4% St.
W. Eacl 45x50 3% Se
Paradise 40x100 2% St
Conoy 60x80 2% Be.
Rapho 48x54 3% St,
Martic 50x60 2% Fr.,
Manor 40x65 3% Br.
Paradise 40x80 3% Fr.
Poradise 60x80 3k St
Coernatvon 40x60 12 St-Fr,
E. Donegal 35x45 3% St-Fr.

<1800

OF

Year Y
Built Cci
1758

1851 1
18N 1

1774
1836
c1800

1720
1750
1728
1737
1825

- — ot -

c1790 1
1840 1
1750 1
1774
1882
1825
1900

c1730 1
1797
1857
1813
1840 1
1778 1
1798 1
c1750 cl
1767
1793 1
1857
<1780 1
1774 1

1929

1
1765

1842,1880

1793 1
1789

c1800
1895

1814

1733 1
1375 L
1800 1
1873 1
1855 1
1804 1
1869

1853

1787
1733
<1727 K



THE LLANCASTER COUNTY MILLS

Year
Closed

1914
1943
1892

1920
1810
1866
1943

1946
1942
1866

1927
1955

1920
1918
1901
<1850

1927

1928
1520

1915

1935

c1925
1926
1938
1933
1908
1210

1§22

1939

1933

Head
Race

4,000
500
2,600
1,300
300
300
50
1,000

1,000
2,600
12
Leng
1,300
100
1.300
50

60
1,300

3,900
Short
1,300
1,300
5,000

50
2,600

100
50
150
15
5,000

5,000
No
900
1,000
500
No

Ne
30
1,300
400
3,900
4,000
2,500
2,500
Lang
1,300
1,300
150
No
500
6,500
100
100
1,000

Tail
Race

300

50

75
2,600

1,200
Short
50

30
200
700

25
50
100
100
400

500
100
1,500
30
200
100

500
500
1,300
700
300
4,000
100
1.800
50
2060
200
300
150
50
600
200
500
35

Dam
Height Tur-
in Ft. bine
No 2
6
10 1
4 2
6
6 2
7 2
4 1i
6
6
10 1
20
4
9
8 3
6
12
7 2
4
(]
12
No 1
7
6
15
]
[
6 2
4 3
8l 2
8 2
6
15 1
6
10
10 3
10
6
10
4
-] 1
9
8 1
No 2
4
7
5 2
] 3
10 2
10 2
8
20
8 2
3 2
3
L]
6

o i o e

Y

Over- Flour G,isy Sew Cider Bbl,

shot Mill
X
2 X
X
1 X
X
X
| X
1 X
1
1
1
2 X
X
1 X
1 X
1 X
X
1 X
1 X
1 X
1 X
) X
1 X
1 X
1 X
2 X
1 X
X
X
X
1 X
1 X
1 X
1 X
2 X
X
2 X
1 X
1 X
1 X
1 X
X
1 X
2 X
X
1 X
X
1 X
uz X
1 X
1 X
X
1 X
I X
1 X

Mill

X XK XK K K KKK KK MK KX KN K KKK KKK NNNK NI K KM MRK MK M X

KXX)(XXKXX)(XX){X}(XXX

Mill
X

XX X X x

=

>

s

=

Ko X X

x X

=

Mill Flour

10
50

X 10
10
50
10
X 8
8

10

>
@

Builder

Joshua Brown
Adam Doerstler
Joseph Ballance

Christion Weaver, Jr.

Jacob Smith

Abram Mylin
Michaoel Hoverstick
Yelk

John Galbraith

(2) Jocob Bear
William Smith
Valentine Becker
Micheel Musselman
Jacob Miller

John Gomber
Selemon Huldeman
Christion Binkley
George Martin
Isaae Groff

(1) Semuel Taylor
George Ulrich
Jacob Kirk
Jomes-Michoel King

R..Catharine Breneman

Martin Huber
Henry Brenneman
John Flickinger
John Swarr

Isacc Erb

(1) Jacob Bear
Koutfman

John Pfoutz

John Bushong
Abraham Hershey
Jacob Eberle

Coleman

Joseph Connelly
Stauffer

Abrom Huffer
Morris Cooper
Felix Baughman

Nicholas Keesecker
Henry Bousmon
Joseph Long

Jocab Eshleman
Joseph P. Ambler
Abram Metz
Christian-Moria Herr
(3) Hiram Erb
Martin

Michoel Musselmon
Jacob Engle

John Houtz

(3) John Erb

Dis.
tile
lery

> X o

Iscoc & Elizabeth Nestleroth

Jaceb Eshlemaon
Nothen Evans

(1) Mc*thew Henderson, 1727

Hemp &
Woolen Cooper Corn
Mill Mill  Meal
X
%
X X
X
x X
X
X
b d
X
X
X
X
X X
X
X
%
X X
X
X X
X
X X
X
X
X
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Height Type
Size of in of Year
Late Owner Name of Stream Nome of Mill Township Mill  Stories Mill  Built
59 Fisher, D, K. Pequeo Cr. Millwood Raller Salisbury 40x60 3% St 1844
60 Fisher, Nooh F. Pegquea Cr. Fisher Poradise 50x80 3k Fr. 1880
61 Flickinger, John Mill Cr, Mill Creek Flour Leocock 50x50 3l; §+-Fr. 1743
62 Flory, Benjamin Middle Run Mortic Forge Martic 30x40 34 St-Fr,
43 Flory, Paul Conestaga Cr. E. Petarsburg Monheim 40x80 2% S5 <1780
64 Forney, Charles Conestogo Cr, Spring Dale E. Hempfield 40x60 32 St-Br, 1798
65 Fous (Faus), Elias Brubaker Run The Fous Rapho 40x50 1% St
66 Frackman, Harry Small Stream Mt. Pleasant Bort 32x36 3% Fr,
67 Fry, Jacob M., Mode Cr. Fry Brecknock 40x60 3%  SuFr. 1738
68 Furniss, Yincent Nickel Mina Cr. Spruce Grove Colerain 20x50 2% Ft,
69 Geib, Eli W, |.. Chickies Cr. Geib Mt Joy 40x60 3l St.-Fr, 1817
69a Garhorr, 1. J. Swamp Cr. E. Cocalico
70 Gish, Henry 8. Conoy Cr. Conoy Feed &Chop W. Donegal 40x50 3K Frs 1845
71 Gish, Daniel Conoy Cr. Gish W. Donegol 28x30 2% Fr. 1751
72 Gockley, Semuel Cocalico Cr. Stoll W. Cocalico 40x50 1% S, <1800
72a Good, Harold Mode Cr, Brecknock 40x60 2% Fr. 1904
73 Gram, Carl Beaver Run Neff Strasburg 40x60 2 St.
74 Graybill, Samuel Conewago Cr. Mt. Vernon Grist W, Donegal 40x60 2% St 1830
& Sow
75 Greider, Hans G, Silver Springs Run Silver Springs W. Hempfield 50x60 2% Fr.
76 Greybill, Rufus D. Conestoga R, Greybill W. Earl 50x60 3 Fr. 1888
77 Groff, Hans Groff's Run W. Earl W. Earl 30x40 2 St. (2)1775
77a Groff, 1soac Conestoga Cr, Lake-Normal Manor 50x60 St. 18469
78 Greff, Martin H. Conestoga R, Waterford Manor 50x60 3% Fr,
79 Grube, Martin D, Mountain Siream Spring Caernarvon 40x50 1% St. 1824
80 Hanway, S. J. Buck Run Hanway Sadsbury 40x60 A3 St 1814
81 Harkness, James Pickens Cr, Harkness L. Britain 40x40 2% St-Fr. ¢1730
82 Hastings, Jomes T, Muddy Run Hastings Colerain 20x35 2l St-Fr.,
B3 Haverstick, Michoel Conestoga R, Hoverstick Pequec 25x35 1t Log
84 Heidler, Amcs Strickler"s Run Glen Mano: W. Hempfield 40x60 2y 5. 1807
B85 Heistand, Daniel L. Chickies Cr, Anglo Rapho 40x45 K St. 1862
8& Herr, Noch Peter's Cr. Herr Fultan 30x40 2% St. 1794
87 Hershey, David J. Conestoga Cr. (WB) Hershey Maonor 40x40 3% St 1810
88 Hertzler, Edward F, Conestoga R, Fuirview Roller Caernarvon 50x60 3% St 1816
89 Hertzog, Adam Cocalico Cr. Blue Lake W. Cocalice 50x60 2% St-Fr,
90 Hess, Edward K. Middle Cr. Fahnestock Ephrato 36x50 2\ SteFr
91 Hess, Jacob W, Conestoga Cr, LeTort Manor 40x50 3% Br.
92 Hess, Jaock Small Stream Drumere 40250 24 Fr.
93 Hess, John J., Jr. Pequea Cr, Milltown Reller Salisbury 60x100 2% St :__ong be.
or 17594
94 Hess, W. Martin Lititz Cr, Compass Warwick 42x60 23 5t 1756,75
95 Heyberger, lacub Nickel Mine Cr. Bart 40x80 2% St. 1747
96 Hicks, Samuel Mill Cr, Hicks W, Lompeter 40x60 3 St.
G7 Hotfer, Somuel Doe Run Dece Run Penn 40x40 2 Fr.
98 Hoffmaen, Ben L. Conoy Cr. Locust Grove Conoy 60x60 2% 5t 1790
99 Hoffmaster, Harvey Big Chickies Cr. Keystone Roller  W. Hempfield 60x70 3%  Br. 181
100 Hollinger, R. W. Big Chickies Cr. Manheim Feed Raphe 40x50 3k Er: 1829
101 Hoober, Abram Mill Cr. Dutch Earl 40x60 2 St. 1753
102 Hopkins, James M., Jr, Conowingo Cr. Hopkins Furnace E. Drumare 40x60 4% St. 1868
103 Houck, Isaac N. Mill Cr Green Bank Earl 30x40 3% St
104 Huber, John K. Liritz Cr. Rome Warwick 40x50 3% Fr. 1835
1040 Hunsecker, Amos L. Conestoga R. Hunsecker Manheim A40x60 3% St, 1807
105 Hurst, Poul Conestoga R, Spring Greve E. Earl 40x60 4% St 1848
106 lrwin, Samuel D. Yalley Run Irwin Sadsbury 40x60 2% St 1825
107 Jackson, Lindley D, Nicke! Mine Cr. Bert Bart 30x50 2% St. c 1800
108 Jenkins, John Conestago R, Windsor Coernarven 40x50 2% 51,
109 Kaegel, Adam Big Chickies Ct, Marietta Roller E. Donegal 80x100 4% St 1814
110 Kauffmen, Abram Indiantown Run Hobecker Manor 40x40Q 3% Br.
111 Kaufiman, Christ Kauffman's Run E. Hemplield 3060 2% S5 \
112 Keeports, John Pequeo Cr, Burnt Martic xH0 2% Fr 1814
113 Keller, Norman W, UBig Chickies Cr, Pann_ T Penn ‘ - —\CP%\\:EA 2 Br c186U
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.
Dam Dis- Hemp &
fear Head Tail Height Tur- Qver- Flour Grist Saw Cider Bbl, til- Woolen Cooper Corn
losed Hace Race in Fr. bine shot Mill  Mill Mill Mill Flgur Builder lery Mill Mill  Meal
30 30 7 1 X X X 30 Fred D. Baker
1948 760 100 8 3 % X 48
1,300 400 6 1 X X X 25 David Miller
1923 5,000 300 3 1 X X 25 Rudolph Kagey
5,000 100 ] 1 X X X 50 Jocob & Mogdalena Keuffman
500 100 5 1 1 X X X 10 (1) Jehn Huber
Long 2,600 8 1 X X X 8
2,600 500 4 1 X X X X 8
5000 150 8 1 X X X 10 (1) Peter Gundy X X
4,000 900 ] 2 X X X 10
600 200 8 1 X X 8 J. B. Y. Miller
Henry Mishler
1931 1,200 60 8 2 X X 25 John S. Gish, 1800 b
1881 200 500 5i 1 X X 8 Perer Rutt
300 450 [ 2 1 X X X 8 X
500 700 4 2 X Lewis Good X
1,100 1,000 Ne 1 X X 8  John Netf, Sr.
1913 300 100 10 1 X X X 8 Edward B, Grubb X
1895 3,000 2,000 10 1 X X 8 Hans G. Greider X
930 250 50 8 1 X X 40 H. B. Greybill
1,000 50  No 1 X X 8 Peter Groff
250 100 2 X X 75 Kauffman X
500 100 12 1 X X 3 X
1920 5,000 1,300 8 1 X X 15
100 100 10 2 X X X 20 Dr. Robert Agnews, Sr.
1,000 150 15 1 X X X 8 Robert Lewis
1912 2,600 30 No 1 % X X 8
150 50 4 1 X X 8
1905 50 100 6 1 X X X 8 George Getz
2,600 600 [} 2 X X 25 Fondersmith
1932 1,000 50 6 2 1 X X B Jomes Bradley, 1794 earlier
1930 500 500 12 1 X X X X 35 Abrohom Hershey
1,300 1,000 10 2 X X X 20 Gecrge Jenkins X
1920 No 1,300 4 X X 8
191 1,000 1,600 6% 3 X X 8 (1) Diedrich Fahnestack X
1,000 100 6 2 X X X 25 Levi Bickhart
1,500 Short & 1 X X X 8 X
1,300 60 8 2 X X X 20 Scmuel Housten
1927 700 900 6 2 X X X 25 Moraviens
1877 Long 100 4 1 X X 8§ Somuel Downing
150 50 7 2 X X 10 (1) Peter Yordy
1,700 100 10 1 X X X
1925 500 100 10 1 X X X 10 J.-M. Haldeman X
50 40 6 2 X X 50 Christion-Barbora Hertzler
949 1,200 2,500 8 3 X X 10 Abram Hostetter ® X
929 500 200 6 1 X X X 10 (1) Theodorus Eby X
1,000 1,000 6 2 1 X X X 8 Jomes Hopkins
941 500 200 6 1 X X 8
No 30 4 1 X X 10 Keller X X
916 Ne 75 8 4 X X X 10 Christian Stauffer b4 X
Ne 1.300 B 2 X A 20 P. Oberhoitzer
IBS&3 800 00 6 1 X X § Somuel [rwin
817 o0 s00 12 2 X X X X 10 James Caldwell
92 300 500 6 2 1 X X X 30 Valentine Eckert
200 300 [ ul X X 10 Henry Shever ¥ X
926 1,300 150 12 1 X X 8§ Kecuffmon
1,300 2 1 X X X 8 George Kneisley X
100 Short Ne 1 1 X X x 8 Jocchb Heiney X
934 15 1,300 9 1 X X 50 50 John-Fannie Howenstein X

"‘{-‘-'.T'




Late Qwner

114 King, Jomes

115 Kinsey, Able

116 Kline, Frank

117 Kramer, C. S.

118 Krontz, Acron
1180 Kreider, John H.
119 Kurtz, Jocob

120 Kurtx, Chorles

121 Kurtz, John B,

122 Loancaster Milling Co,
123 Londis, Abrem

124 Landis, Felix

125 Londis, Nelson
125a Lehman, Hons
126 LoFevor, A, Lincoln
126a Leinbach, R. A,
127 Levan, Brothers
128 Levan, George

129 Lichty, Martin M.
130 Lutz, Jesse

13! Lyons, Jesse

1310 Madiera

132 Martin, A, G.

133 Mortin, Claorence
134 Martin, Iscac G,
135 McCallister, Morris
136 McCrabb, Jacob
137 McCreo, Jchn

138 McElwain, John
139 Mellinger, Stephen
140 Mengle, Abrom
Y40a Mercers

141 Metzler, Somuel
142 Miller, Jacob

143 Miller, Phares C,
144 Miller, Williom

145 Mohn, Woyne

1450 Moore, James H.
146 Moore, John

147 Mocre, John H,

148 Morrison, Robert
149 Moyer, D, C.

150 Moyer, Walter W,
151 Mumma, Abram

152 Musselman, Ben F.
152a Musselmon, H. N.
153 Myers, R. W,

154 tiagle, Wollington
155 Nefl, Emanuel

156 Neff, Francis

157 Newswanger, Henry
158 Nissley, David R.
159 Nissley, Horry N.
160 *'No Nome'’ Smedly?
161 Noble, William

162 Noll, Monroe

" 163 Nolt, Clorence O.

164 Nolt, J. B.
165 Nolt, M. M,
166 Poxson, Harry 0.

Name of Stream

Potterson's Run
Raccoon Cr.
Beaver Cr,

L Mode Cr,
Beaver Cr.
Long's Run
Kurtz Run
Conestogo R.

Conestogo R,
Mill Cr.
Conestoga Cr.
Mill Cr,
Conestoga Cr. (WB)
Reiff’s Run
Pequea Cr.
Cocalico
Barber’s Run
Conestoga R.
Conestogo R.
Cocalico Cr,
Shirk’s Run
Back Run
Cocalico Cr.
L. Mode Cr,
Martin’s Run
L. Chickies Cr.
Fishing Cr.
Small Streom
Small Stream
Swomp Cr.
Conestoga R.
Qctoraro Cr.
Cocolico Cr.
Beover Cr.
Conoy Cr.
Conestogo R,
L. Mode Cr,
Mill Cr.
Octororo Cr.
Big Chickies Cr.
Smail Stream
Pequea Cr.
Cocalico Cr.
Small Steeom
Calamus Run
Kauffmen®s Run
Mill Ce.
Cocalico Cr,
Peques Cer.
Conestoga R.
Cedar Run

Big Chickies Cr.
Donegel Cr,
Conowingo Run
Octoraro Cr.
Harnish Cr.
Mill Cr,

Lititz Cer,
Conestoga R,

Samson’s Run

Name of Mill

Rock
Kinsey's
Green Tree
Mode

John Hostetter's
Kuriz
Willow Glen

Boer

Doisy Flour
Oreville
Millport
Windom
Lehmon
LeFover

Foirview Grist
Levon
Coernarvon Roller
W, Cocalico
Blue Ball
Madiera Mill
Cocalico Roller
Adomstown Raller
Martin
MeCallister
McCrabb
McCrea
McElwain
Fairview Roller
Mengle

Mercers
Cloister

Miller

Miller

Rock Hill
County Line
‘Moore's

Moore
Centerville
Mortison
Edisonville
Moyer

Seven Color
Musselman
Musselman’s
Myer

Greenville

Neff

City

Welsh Mt

Donegol.
Noble
Smoketown
Nolt

Green Bank Raller
Bellbonk

Township

L. Britain
L. Britain
Strasburg
Brecknock
Strasburg
Manheim
Manheim
Caernarvon,
Berks Co.
Earl
W. Lompeter
E. Hempfield
E. Lompeter
Mﬂﬂo’
Ropho
Strosburg
W. Cocalico
Manor
Lancoster
COB'"Q’VO"
W..Cocalico
E. Earl
Rapho
Ephrata
Brecknock
Earl
Mt Joy
Deumore
Colerain
Colerain
E. Cocalice
Cnemurvon
Sadsbury
Ebhroto
Strasburg
W. Donegol
Conestoga
Brecknock
U. Leacock
Sadsbury
Rapho
L. Britain
Strasburg
Ephreta
Mt Joy
Strasburg
E. Hempfield
U. Leacock
W, Cocahico
Strosburg
Lencoster
E. Eorl
E. Hempfield
E. Donegol
Fulton
Sedsbury
W. Cocalico
E. Lampeter
Manheim
Eorl
Colerain

Size of
Mill

40x40
40x50
36x40
40x60
40x50
20x33
30x60
70x70

25x40
60x80
40x60
40x40
40x60
35x45
50275
40x60

40x155
40x50
20x40
30x40

40x60
60x70
40x60
40x60
30x40
30x60
25x40
40x50

50x65
40x80
36x40
45x50
40x60
40x40

40x40
80100
45x60
36x40
40x60
40%60
40x60
30460
40x60
30x50
40x50
60x80
30x50
60x80
45x70
30x40
40x60
42x52
50x60
40x80
60x80
30x50

Height

in

Stories

3%

33
2%
34
2%
2%
3%

1%
2%
2%
1%
3%
2%
2%
4

4%
3%
2%
2%
2%
2%
3%
3%
3%
2%
2%
2%
1%
%

3%
4);
3%
3%
2%
2%
3%
1%
3%
2

3%
3%
k)2
k)
2%
2%
2%
3%
%
2%
3%
3%
2

2);
2%
3%
3%
4%
2%

Type

of  Yoor Ye
Mill  Builr Clo
Fr. 1730 19.
St-Fr. 1860 e
St. 1830 19
s, 1740 19
Fe. <1813
Fe.  cl750
St. 1792 1¢
St. 1867 19
Fs. 1889
St. 1813 18
St. 1767 18
St. 1810

c1760 cl1§

St-Fr. 1740 t9
St1-Fr, 18
St-Fr. 1780 19
Br. 1870 19
St. 1868
Fr. 1810
St, c1750
St-Fr, 19
Str. 1818 19
St. 1833
Fr.
Fs.
St. 16
Log <1780
St 1822 16
St, 1761(?) 18
St. 1781 18
St. 1748 1
St-Fr. 1826 18
St, 1740
St. 1870
St.
St, 1¢
Log 1768
St, 1804 1”©<
St-Fr,
St.(1)c1768,1822
Br. 1756
St-Fr, Early
Ss.Fr. 1810
Fr. c1770
St. 1802
St-Fr, 1
St. 1797
St. 1735 cl
St.Fr.
St, 1829
Br. 1830
Fr. 1817 A
St. ’
St, 1840 L
st 770 4
St. 181¢ 1
St
St 1817



e rp—
Dom Dis- Hemp &
ar Year Head Tail Height Tur- Over Flour Grist Saw Cider Bbl, til- Woolen Cooper Corn
e Closed Race Race in Ft. bine shot Mill  Mill Mill Mill Flour Builder lery  Mill Mill  Meal
30 1634 50 500 20 2 1 X X X X 8 (1) Jomes King
800 200 4 1 X X 8 (Father) Kinsey
60 T1928 40 120 8 ul X X
30 1922 5,000 600 5 1 1 X X X 8§
40 1938 2,600 250 9 2 X X X 8 Mortin Bare X
813 1,500 250 4 4 X X X John Hestetter X %
750 i 1,300 50 3 1 X Jacab Kurtz X
72 192% 1,300 1,300 10 1 1 X X X 24 John Kurtz
67 1964 500 200 10 1 X X X X 8 Iscoc L. Baer
39 50 35 14 1 X X X 85 Samuel 1 Pugh
13 1890 1,500 50 4 1 X X 8 John-Cotharine Kauffman
7 1822 80 5 6 X X ¥ 8 Felix Landis, Jr.
0 0 70 4 1 ; S X 10 Jacob Kouffman X X
40 c1880 E00 300 6 1 Heons Lehman
40 1924 1,500 1,200 8 2 X X R 25 John Herr i X
1878 0 200 12 X X X
o} 1932 100 50 25 1 X X 125 James Barker X
G 1915 No 50 8 2 1 X X X X 100 David K. Wolf X
3 10 2 X X X 10 David Mortin-David Stauffer
10 1,000 1,000 5 1 X X Jaceb Zinn
750 Long 100 Neo 1 X Jesse Lyons
450 150 4 1 X
1938 400 1,300 6l 3 X X 10
'8 1926 600 7 X X 36 Philip Yon Nieda X
3 1,300 1,000 5 1 X X X X 25 Christian Weaver
1,300 150 12 i 1 X X X 8
No 300 10 1 X X X X 25 George McCullough
1900 600 50 6 1 X X X X 8 X
30 1 X Danie! Beyer
2 1928 5,060 150 6 1 X X 8 Henry Mishler
1e) 1868 2,500 1,000 10 1 X X X 8 Jacob Hershberger
1 1820 Short Short 4 X X B John-Jomes Sterrer
8 1515 200 150 5 4 U X X X 10 Cloister Group 3%
4 1886 1,700 250 8 1 X X 8 Elizabeth Herr
0 1,300 100 5% i X X 25 (1) Philip Gloninger X
0 100 40 17 2 X X B
1,600 300 4 1 X X X 10 Daniel Moore X
1918 X X X
8 150 Short 6 1 X X X 8 Andrew Moore X t
4 1805 500 150 8 1 X X 25 Christion Hertzler
2,500 50 No 1 X
1822 2,600 50 7 1 X X 8 John Herr X X
5 500 300 6 1 X X 8 John-Mary Bowman
ly 2,600 150 4 I X David Cook & Son
2,500 50 6 1 X X 10 Joceb Groff X X
70 130 5,000 4 1 X X Ch:istian Kouffinan %
2 y 200 200 9 1 1 X X X X 10 Chiistian Stouffer
1606 800 60 5 2 X X X 8 George Burkholder X
150 50 4 2 X X X 10 Wende! Bowmon
5 <1927 50 6 1 2 X X X 8 Fiancis Neff x
No No No 1 X X X 5
9 75 300 12 X X 75 John-Barbara Shenk
0 2,500 1,300 17 1 X X 10 (2) Jocob Nissley
: 1850 1 X X 8
150 Short 6 1 X X 8 John Moore
J 2,600 200 4 1 1 X X X X 8 Somuel Hernish
J 1,300 300 6 2 1 X X X 100 Jomes-Deborah Gibbons
) 1898 200 50 12 2 1 X X X 10 Christian-Elizebeth Kauffman
100 600 2 X X X 10 ¥
i 4,000 600 5 1 X X X B8 Bell (?) X

S~

i
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Late Quner

147 Puzb, Somuel J.
166 Pusey, Mahlon
169 Pyle, Frank C.
170 Rabold, Jocob
171 Ronck, Adam S.
172 Ranck, Daniel
173 Renck, Samuel
174 Ray, George T.
175 Reddig, Charles
176 Reed, J. Fronk
177 Reitz, John H, °
178 Ressler, Jacob K.
17¢ Rettoew, C. W,

180 Reynolds, Somuel
181 Risser, Potor Horst
182 Rissler, N. S.

183 Ritz, Ross

184 Rohrer, John & Frank

185 Rohrer, Ross H.
186 Ruh!, Walter W,
187 Rupp, Samuei B.
188 Rutt, Christian
189 Rut*, Horry

190 Souder, B. K.

191 Souder, Earl

192 Souder, Samuel E.
193 Seigrist, 1. S,

194 Sensenig, tsrael K.
195 Sensenig, LeRoy
195a Shenk, Rudolph
196 Sheaffer, tsocc
197 Sheaffor, J. Lloyd
198 Shenck, Henry
199 Shimp, Harvey
200 Shirk, Lemon W.
201 Shober, Jolin

2010 Christion Shoemacher

202 Shoff, Fead

203 Sickmon, Warren
2030 Sides, Frank

204 Simons, Dr. John S.
205 Slaymaoker, John L.
206 Smith, Atden

207 Snovely, Abram
208 Snavely, Ben B.
209 Snuvely, Harry R,
210 Snavely, John

211 Snavely, L. M.

212 Snyder, Fronk B,

213 Spayd, Aaron

214 Stauvifor, Amos N.
215 Stavffer, Bon G,
216 Stauffer, Harry
217 Stoutfer, Lloyd
218 Stehmon, Harry
219 Stober, Allen H.
220 Stoltzfus, Christ
221 Stoneroad, Henry
222 Stouffer, Philip

Nome of Stream

Pequea Cr,
Nickel Mine Cr,
Conowingo Cr.
Hommer Cr.
London Run
Conestogo R,
Conestoga ?.
Valley Run
Cocalico Cr.
Buck Run
Hammoar Cr,

Mill Cr, |
Cocalico Cr.
Nickel Mine Cr,
L. Chickies Cr,
Pequea Cr.

8ig Chickios Cr,
Calemus Run
Beaver Cr.

Big Chickies Cr.
Conestoga R.
Conoy Cr.
Conestogo R.
Witmer’s Run
Conestogo R.
Conestoga R.
Big Chickies Cr,
Conestogo R.
Conestoge R.
Stehman Run
Groff's Run
Pequea Cr,

Big Chickios Cr.
Cocalico Cr.
Kurtz Run
Conestoga R.
Relf"s R\‘ﬂ
Pequeo Cr.
Pequea Cr,
Beover Run 8r.
Donegal Cr.
Small Stream
Shock’s Run
Conestoga R.
Hemmer Cr,
Big Chickies Cr.
Muddy Run

Hammer Cr.
L. Chickios Cr,

Hemmer Cr,

L. Chickies Cr.
L. Chickies Cr.
Cedar Run
Smoall Streom
Conastoga Cr.
Indiantown Cr,
Mill Cr.
Conestoga Cr.
Cocalico Cr,

Noeme of Mill

Wheotland
Pusey
Fulton
Sunnyside
Ronck

Twin City
Twin City
Volley Run
Reddig
Spring
Millway
Mascot
Akron Roller
White Rock
Roddy
Keystone
Mt. Hope
Highland
Camorgo
Elstonville
Farmersville
Rutt Saw
Keystone Grist
Blue Rock
Hinkletown
Lindon Grove
Centorville
Sensenig

E. Eorl
Conestoga
Sheaffer
Lime Valley
Shenck
Union

Shirk
Slackwater Buyrr
Shoemacher
Colemonville
Pequea Roller
Fruit Valley
Danegal
Slaymaker

€. Doncgal
Snaovely
Brunnerville
Junction
Snovely
Willow Bonk

Mt Joy
Speedwell

Stauffor

Cedor Run
White Harse
Concstoga Feed
Indientown
Mussolman
Rock Furnace
Wabash

Township

W. Lampeter
Drumore
Fulton
Cloy
Paradise
Lancoster
E. Lempeter
Sadsbury
E. Cocalico
Sﬁdsbury
Worwick
Leocock
Ephrato
Colerain
Mt. Joy
Salisbury
Rapho
Paradise
Edon

Penn

Eorl
Conoy
Eatl
Menor

Eorl

E. Earl
Ropho
Eori

E. Eorl
Conestoge
W, Eor!
Strasburg
Rapho

E. Cocalico
Manheim
Conestoge
Rapho
Conestogo
Conestoge
Steasburg
W.. Donegal
Colyoroin
E. Donegal
Pequeo
Elizobeth
Ponn
Mortic
Elizabeth

Mt Jey

Elizabeth
E. Donegal
Rapho

E. Eorl
Salisbury
Monor
Coealico
Eerl

Manor

W. Cocolico

Height
Size of in
Mill  Stories
60x80 k} 73
30x40 2%
40x70 3%
©75x100 4%
35x65 M
Ex80 3
40x50 k173
40x60 N
60x80 2
30x40 2%
30x40 2%
45x56 3%
40x60 3k
40x60 2y
70x80 3%
30x69 2'4
60x70 2%
40x100 3%
50x55 3%
40x40 2%
60x80 4%
40x100 1%
40x60 4%
40x60 1%
50x70 4%
40x60 3%
80x110 3%
30x40 24
45x56 3%
40x60 3%
20x40 2%
40x560 3%
40x80 kiz}
30x50 2%
30x50 2%
40x60 2%
30x36 2%
3%
40x60 4%
1%
44x55 2%
40x40 2%
40x42 3%
40x50 3%
40x80 3%
30x60 2%
35x40 3%
54x96 3%
40x60 3%
40x90 2%
30x50 3%
40x60 2%
40x50 2%
60x80 3%
40x60 3%
50x100 3%
40x60 3%
32x48 2%

40x60 2%

Type
of
Milt

Br,
St-Fr,
Fr.
St.
Br,
Br.
St-Fe,
St,

St,

St.

St.

St.
St-Fr,

St.
St,
Fr.
Br.
Br.
St.
Fr.
Fr.
St,
St-Fr,
St.

St,

St.
Fr.
St.
St,
St.-Fr,
St.

St
St.
St-Fr.
St-Fr,
St-Fr,
Fr.
St.
Fr.
St.
Fr.
St,

St.

St
Br.
St.

St.

St.

St.
St-Fr,
St.
St.
St.
St.
St.
St.
St
St-Fr.

Yeor
Built

1867
cl765
1833
1813
1868
1822
1763
<1800
1816
1841
1835
1790
1814
<1790
1816

1904
1852
1825
1918
1872

1867
1832
1830

1804

1830

1846
c1700
cl770
1857
1866
<1800
1900
1865
1727
1837

1838
1820
1855
1807
1850
1828
1750
1781
1900
1732
1815

1770

Yeor
Close

1908
191C
1926
1912
1892

1913

1830
c1940

1964
1931

1910

1924
1898

1867
1920

1936

1919
1930

1917
1918
1860

191¢
1925

Y902
193¢
993"



Yeor
Built

1867
c1765
1833
1813
1868
1822
1763
<1800
1815
1841
1835
1790
1814
<1790
1816

1904
1852
1825
1918
1872

1867
1832
1830

1804

1830

1844
<1700
1770
1857
1864
<1800
1900
1855
1727
1837

1838
1820
1855
1807
1850
1828
1750
1781
1900
1732
1815

1770

Year
Clesed

1908
1910
1926
1912
1893

1913

1830

c1940

1964
1931

1910

1919
1930

1917
1915
1890

1910
1925

1902
1930
193

Head
Race

50
900
4,000
1,300
2,500

50
1,300
400
4,000
500
360
1,300

30
500
400

1,300
1,700
5,000
300
Neo
300
1,300
No

70
500
300
500

2,600
1,300

200
2,500
200
100
2,000
1,000
150

2,500
2,500
150

300
2,500
4,000

1,500

30
250
5,000
1,000
200
1,500
1,500
300

6

Tail

Race

20

50
1,300
2,000
2,500
60

50
1,300
500
150
100
1,300
300

50
1,300
200
1,300
1,500
1,300
225
1,000
2,000
25

50
120
150
200
400
150
50
100
100
300
20

40

50

400
€775
100
300
100
50
100
100
1,100
50

500

2,000
50
1,000
50

50
500
500
300
250
300

Dam

Height Tur- Qver

in Ft. bine shot
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60

8
25
12
12

24
10

100
20
10

50
35
25
20
60
24

(=

m W @ W

100

10
12
48

85

Dis-

til-

Builder lery

(2) Martin Kendig
Samuel Pusey

(2) Joel Smedley
Michoei Kline, Jr. X
Abraham Corpenter

(2) Demuth

Yost Musser

Calvin Cooper
Christion-Catherine Knop
John Townsend

(2) Jocob Sheaffer

(2) Marcus Groff

(2) Jacob Keller

Somuel Reynolds

Peter Risser

Brackbill (?)

A, Bates Grubb

(2) Henry S, Rohrer
Benjomin-Ann Brenemen
Walter W, Ruhl|

Isaac Burkholder

Peter Rurt

Israel Baer

Jacob Witmer

(1) George Hinkle

Martin Greider
J. Gaulr
C. C. Martin

Stehman (?)

(1) E. Herr

John Shenk

Michoel Berar, Sr.
Ulrich Shirk

Sheber (?)

Christian Shoeinocher
Fred Shoff

Abram Herr X
Samuel Taylor
Christion Haldemon

Conrad Ziegler
Michael Haverstick
1) Christian Eby
Jacob Snavely

(13 Christian-Elizabeth Eby
c1750

(2) Abroaham-Barbaro X
Hackmon

Speedwell

Alexander Hutchinson

lsaac Bruboker

Herry Staulfer

Thomos Henderson

John Wright

Michael Musselmen
Abroham-Veronica Keuffmen
Jocob Hower

Hemp &

Woolen Cooper Corn

Mill

X

Mill

Meal

X X X X




TN -

P Height Type
Size of in of Yeor Yeo
Lete Owner Name of Stream Nome of Mill Township Mill  Storiez  Mill Built Clos-
223 Stubbs, Florence M.  Conowingo Cr, Pleasant Grove Fulton 30x70 2% Fr. 1867 193:
224 Swartz, Oscor E. Swemp Cr. Galen Holl W. Cocalico 24x30 2% Fr. 1810 194
225 Townsend, John Buck Run Buck Hil} Saedsbury 40x60 2% St-Fr. 1841
226 Trimblo, John S, Conowingo Run Soapstone Hill Fulton 40x80 2% Fe.
227 Trupe, Somuel O. Conestega R, Conastogo Roller E Earl 3I5x70 3%  Fr.
228 Ulmeor, Cloyton W, Mii) Cr. Eckman Saw W. Lompeter 2%  Fr, 193
229 Umble, Christ J. Conestogo R. Edon Rollor E. Lompoter 40x50 3% Br. 1845
230 Von Nieda, Henry Mode Cr, Bowmansville Brecknock 40x50 2% St 1850
231 Weaver, Aaron W, Cedor Run Goodvilte Roller  Eorl 40x60 3% St 1804,1894 193
232 Woinrich, Bon Smal} Stroem Vera Cruz E. Cocalico 30x60 1% Fr, 191
233 Woitzal, Andrew Tuequan Cr, Grogory Hollow Martic 20x20 1%  Fr. 1900
234 Wenger, Clayton Conestogo R. Brownstown Roller W, Ear| 50x60 4% St 1856
235 Wengor, H. N. Cocolico Cr, Wenger Warwick 40x60 3%  Fr 190¢ 192
236 Wengor, lrwin L. Chickies Cr, Wenger Ropho 27x41 2% St-Fr. c1800 194
. Cg 237 Wentz, Thomas Muddy Run Wentz Martic 50x60 3% SuFr. 192
< 238 Westloy, Allison Conestoga R. Westley Caernarvon, 1835 192
Borks Co.
239 Whiteside, J. Fred Smoil Streom Whiteside Colerain 40x50 3%  St-Fr. 192
240 Wimer, Joseph H. Small Stream White Oak Edon 40x20 2% St 1798
. ‘ 241 Wiso, Fred London Grove Run Wiso Poradise 1% 1760 189
) - 242 Wisslor, Ben Middle Cr. Lineoln Cley 40«50 3% St 1843
243 Wolf, Even S. Middie Cr. Eagle Cloy 36x45 2% St 1755 191
244 Wolgemuth, P. E., Donegal Cr. Sharer's E. Donegal 47x57 3% S 1810
- 245 Wood, Day, Jr.. Conowingo Cr. Wood Burr L. Britain 30x100 2%  Fr. c193
N 246 Wright, John Stricklor’s Run Wright Corn W. Hempficld 1730
* 247 Yeates, Jasper Mill Cr, Greenlond E. Lompeter 2% Fr. 1730
248 Yolk, Harace Pequea Cr. M!. Rock Salisbury 30x60 2% St-Fr. 1760 193
249 Zartmen, E. K. Hommer Ce, Lexington Elizabeth 46x60 3% St 1775
- 250 Zimmerman, Levi Mode Cr. Red Run Brocknock 30xd45 2% Fe. (2)1898
B 251 Zook, Elmer Lititz Cr, Millport Roller Worwick 60x80 2%  Fr. 1892
# 252 Zook, Elmer Lititz Cr. Orogon Roller Manheim 40x60 3% St 1814 c194
KEY
Cr, « Creek; R, = River; L. — Little; U. — Upper; E, - Eosi; W. — West; M. — Mountoin or Mount; (WB) — West 1.
Branch; Fr. - Frame; Br. — Biick; St. - Stone; U = Undershot or Poddle Whoel (others overshot); Bbl, — Barrels 2.
of flour per day; ¢ ~ about; X -~ Yes. 3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
1n.
12,
13,
14,
14a.
15.
16.
17.
4
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1845 .
1850
804,1894

1900
1856
1900
<1800

1835

1798
1760
1843
1755
1810

1730
1730
1760
1775
2)1898
1892
1814

st
els

PRRE
yd

,’/ o

Dom Dis- Hemp &
Yeor Head Tail Height Tur- Over Flour Grist Saw Cider Bbl. til-  Woolen Cooper Corn
Closed Race Race in Ft, bine shot Mill  Mill Mill Mill Flour Builder lery Mill Mill  Meol
1936 2,500 900 6 2 1 X X X X 10 Michael Bear
1940 300 75 S 1 X X X John Lengle
4,000 150 1 1 X X X X 8 John Towsend, Sr. X
4000 6 1 S S 8 X X
1,300 250 5 2 X X 35 C. C. Martin
1932 600 65 8 1 X X X 8 George Herr
No 12 4 2 X X 16 Geurge Ehrhort X
5,000 200 4 1 ),( X X 30 Henry Van Nieda X
1931 1,300 900 15 1 X X X 24 X
1910 250 3500 10 1 X X X 8 William Binkley
225 30 8 1 X Andrew Weitzel
750 150 H 2 X X X 75 (2) Jacob-Lavino Groff
1929 300 300 5k 2 X X 50 {2)Henry Zook
1941 1,300 30 6 1 X X 8 Hans Here
1927 450 225 20 ] X X X 25 X X
1920 500 200 6 X
1920 1,700 500 4 1 X X 8 John Andrews X
300 20 17 1 X X 8 Abraham Hoover X X
1897 100 200 6 1 X X 8 Fred Wise X X X X
600 500 [ 2 N X X 10 Jocob Wissler X
1918 Long Short 10 1 X X X 8 Christion Weidman X
1,300 1,000 8 X X 10 Henry M. Sharer X
c1932 5,000 5,000 [ 1 X X X 8
1 X X 8 Jomes Barber
300 50 4 1 X Joseph Boughwalter
1930 Long 30 6 1 X X X 8 Isaoc Hoines
2,500 500 8 2 1 X X X 90 Christian Stouffer
1,500 75 é ] X X X 8 (2) Oberholtzer
1,700 2,500 12 2 X X 50
1943 40 300 12 X X 75 (1) Jocob Bear
FOOTNOTES
1. (2) Henry Sharer, 1810 18. (1} Martin Kendig, ¢ 1720 by 1725 1o Emoanuel Herr
2. (1) William Smith, 1730 19. (1) Jomes Gillespie, 1751
3. Or Samuel 20. (2) John Ranck, 1773
4. Felix Binkley (1767-1882) 20a. John Henry Neff ot the corner of Menheim Township
5. (1) Peter Sware, 1750 sold to Sebastian Graeff in 1738
6. (1) Peter Weiland 21, (1) George Eby 1760
7.{) 5. D. Boker, 1740; (3) William Downing, 1870 22, (1) Jocob Bocker, bofore 1745 t
B. {1) Thomas Henderson 23. (1) Charles Hollacher, 1762
9. (2) Dovid-Anno Witmer, 1790; (4) Bruo Brothers, 1880 230. (1) Jomes Rodda, 1722

. (2) Ephraim Shober, 1830

- (1) Gabriel Dovis, 1721; (2) John Jenkins, 1750
. (2) Christian Hess, 1800

. (2) George Rine

. (2) Levi H. Jackson, 1853

14a. (1) Themas King; (2) Jocob-Elizabeth Bear

15.

(1) Michael Witwer, before 1754

16. (1) David Hays, 1730; (2) John Greider, before 1776
17. (1) Jacob Golbrajth

24. (1) Jocob Groff, early

. (1) Benjamin Good, 1793

. Ci. Willow Bonk Mill elsewhere

. (1) Benjomin Weaver, before 1812
L) T Wolf

. (1) Dr. Samvel Martin, 1772

later; beforc Weiss of Heidelberg.
. (2) Jocob Stehman, ¢ 1812; (3) Harry Withers, 1909

. Joseph Musser had it before 1811, Christien Kouffman




CHAPTER IV
NAMES
Chart 11 connecting 1824 Map with Chart I

Chester

824 Map Paes

J. Andrews on Morrizon Run ... .. 239
Aenew on Buek Run vveeeeees 80
Backman on Strickler’'s Run .. . 84
Baker on Hammer Creek ......... . A2

Bard on (West) Cocalico ...

Michael Baie on Cocalico ... .. 154
Bauman on Conestoga ............ N |
Bausman e 42
Baxter on Wuat ant.h 0( meo ...... 30

Bear on Big Beaver ... : 10
Bear on Cocalico ... 199
Bear, White 102k owemammnmnvesan a7
Bender on Little Conestoga ..o, 47

Binkley on Mill Stream
Binkley on Harnish Run
W. Binkley on Zimmerman’s Run .... 103

C. Binkley on Conestoga ....cccceeeveee. 17
Bicknell Fulling Mill on Peter's

) . B
Bitzer on Conestoga ... . 121
Brackbill on London Laml Run .......... 171
Black Forge Grist Mill on West

Biraiieh 'Qetoraro aocimina i

Boyd on Peter's Creck
Breckbill on Pequen ...
Brenneman on Big Beaver ... 26
Brenneman on Share’s Hun .. . 24
S, Brown on Conowingo ... . 169

. 86
. 185

Brubaler on Brubaker IRun . G5
Brubaker on Brubaker Run .. . 143
Biubaker on L. Chicques ... . 215
Byers on Sampson ... . 166
Carventer on Carpenter Run ... 171
Carter on Octoraro, Chester County

SEL om0 B o B

Caldwells on West Branch Oectoraro 107

Clendennin on Branch Octoraro . 82
Cloud on Qctoraro .....eeeeen.. .

Cogler on Cocalico ... . 20a
Coleman on Furnace Run . . 36
Coopesr on Cooper Run ... . 174
Daniel Mill on Mill Stream . 163

Davis on Mill Creelk ......coveeneee. e 103
Jacob Denlinger on Little Beaver ... 44
Downing on West Braneh Octoraro.. 95

horly on Middle Creek .o, 48
Fby on HHammer Creck ., 208
Eby on Hammer Creek ... . 211
Zhy on Hammer Creek 177
Eby on Little Chickesalunga ... :

F2hy on Little Conestoga ... i
Doras Eby on Mill Stream .................. 101

(Peter) Eckert on Yequea ................. 184
(George) Eckert on Mill (‘wek ....145a
Fekman Saw Mill oeevveeveene.s Ve D AB
Fdwards on Hammer Creek ........... 213

Chester

1824 Map Paes
Engle on Conoy Creek .oocoeevveeeeeen. 51
Elser on Hammer Creek ............... 170
Leonard Ellimaker on Henderson Run 59
FEphrata Mills on Cocalico oo, 141
(John) Erb on Conoy Creek .... 24
vk oin Hammer Creek 29
John M. Erb on Big Chlcque': - 52
Erb on Middle Creeck . vis 3¢
Kb on Middle Creek . 243
srboon Middle Creek ... . 48
Erb on Tucquan ........oooeveeeeeeovoin, 53
Eshleman on Branch Pequea and

London Run .......
Nathan Evans, Pool Folge
Eshleman on Little Beaver ...............
Fiay on Conestoga .....cc.........
Flickinger on Cocalico .............

FFrankhouser on Muddy Run ....
Frantz Mill on Pequea .........
Fry on Muddy Creek ....oocoooovveennnn,
Furnace Mill on (West Blanch)
OCLOTATO wovvvvrreeiteeeeeeeeese e,
Gault on Pequea ........
J. Gault on Conestoga
Christian Good on Big Muddy Creek 230
Good at Five Pointville on Big
Muddy' Creek .l 18
Grafl on Brubaker Run, near Reihl
Church -
Hans Groff (Gloves) on Grove Run.. i
A, Grafl on Little Beaver
D. Groves on Mill Creek ...
Gish on Conoy Creek
Gryder on Conowingo
Greider on Chickesalunga ..
H. B. Grubb, Mount Hope
Hackman (41 Mount Joy) on Little
Chickesalunga ........ st 212
Haldeman on Conoy C Iee-k
Hallacher on Cocalico .o
Hamilton Cotton Factory ..
Harnish on IHarnish Run
Hartshorn on Hery Run weoevoeveeven,
Haverstick on Conestoga .ccoveeeno. 83
Heeston (Hiestand) on Wltmel Run.. 190
Heeston (Hiestand) on Little

Chickesalunga ... e B2
Heestons (Hiestand) on thtle
Chickagalutipal «cooumnnimmsmaan 104

Henderson on Pequea Creek .
Henderson on Pequea Creek .
Henry on Conestoga ......
Herr on West Branch Octorvarg ...
Barbara Herr on Little Conestoga ... 47
J. Herr on Pequea ... %

Herr on Little Chlckesa]unga




Hershey on Big Chiques .......ccoouvune.. 33
A. Hershey on Indiantown Run ........ 110
A. Hershey on Conestoga Creek ...... 78
Hershey on Kauffman Run ...............
Hershey on Little Conestoga (W. B.) 87
Hess Mill on Pequea ..c.cccveveeecrcnennnee 93
Heyberger on Octoraro ....... e 96
Hoar on Conestoga ............ .. 88
Hoffman on Conestoga ...
Hoober on Mill Creek .......ceuu. e 101
(Peter) Holl on Carter Creek . 31
Horst on Conoy Creek .............
Horst on Conoy Creek ............. ... 143
Horst on Little Chickesalunga .......... 181
(Jacob) Hostetter on Big Chicke-
salunga 158
Huber on Groves Run ......coeveeevrevennnns 58
Hummel on Mill Stream .... . 103
Hunsecker on Conestoga .. ..104a
R. Jenkins on Conestoga .. .. 88
Johnson on Big Chiques ....... ... 109
Johnston on Chickesalunga ................ 109

Isaac Kauffman on Little Conestoga 63
Kauffman on West Branch Little

CONestoga ..ocveeeervenrrenerrerernenieeseens 125
Kauffman on West Branch Little

Conestoga ..cveveeeecererernennnes R 2
Kaufreth on Conestoga .....cceceveruneene 76
Christian Kauffman on Kauffman

Run 111
Keller on Cocalico .....cceeerrvrcersnnreeseraces 179
(Samuel) Keller on Carter Creek .... 104
Keller on Carter Creek ..........couununen. 31
Kendig on Mill Stream .. e 122
King on Peterson Run ...........cuuenunee. 114
Kinsey on Buck Run .....ccevvevrmrenencnne 115
J. Kirk on Conowingo .......ueunieivunnnnn 22
Kirk on Raccoon Run .....cveeieenane. 22
Kline on Hammer Creek .......c.ooerrneee 170
Kurtz on Cocalico ...cnvererenririsererenne 41
Kurtz Mill on Conestoga ........oun..... 189
Kraybill (Graybill) on Meetmg

House Run 159

Lambert on Cramer ......ccuvevrcvvnnnee 43
Landis on Whitehill Run, near

Pequea Meetinghouse ..................
Landis on Conestoga ......cceueun.n.. 172, 173
Landis on Little Muddy Creek ..........
Landis Mill on Conestoga .................. 125
(David) Landis on Mill Stream ........ 96
Lehman on Reiff Run ......coveuvenueec. 125a
Lesher on Cocalico ...cweeevrrereverrreesennes 41
Lights on Conestoga ........ccevervsmvuenens 128
Long on Cocalico ...eceveveeeeeeeemerrerenenes 222
Longenecker, Manheim ....oceu.eeene....... 100
Martin on Big Chiques .......ccveeeereneen.
Martin on Conestoga ................ 195

Msrtin on Little Muddy Run .............. 133
McClure on West Branch Octoraro....

Menart on Conestoga ....
Mercer on Octoraro ...........

UL r\LvUivf‘L >

Miller on West Branch Little

D. Miller on Big Beaver ........cceueuneen 142
Conestoga .......cccceuree 214
Miller on Mill Stream ..... e 61
Millport on Carter Creek ......... we 2B1
Montgomery on Mill Stream .
Moorec on Octoraro ..o

Moravian .
Musselman on Chickesalunga ..........
Musselman on Kauffman Run ............
Musselman on Little Conestoga ......
Musselman on Pequea
Mylin on Stehman Run
John Neff, Branch of Little Beaver.. 73
Francis Neff Mill ................... .. 156
Newswanger on Conestoga .. e 227
Newswanger on Cedar Run 157
Niceley on Conewago, Dauphin

County
Nicely on Donegal Creek ..
Noble e
Nissley—above Salunga

Pennypacker on Muddy Run ......
Pfautz on Little Chickesalunga
Pusey on West Brauch Octoraro ...... 168
Ranck on Conestoga ........cuuuu.... 172, 173
Reesor on Chickesalunga ........u......... 181

E. C. Reigart on Little Conestoga .... 30
H. M. Reigart on Little Conestoga .... 64
H. M. Reigert on Little Conestoga .... 63

Rhine on Mill Stream ......ccooveeeereneesn. 101
Rohrer Saw Mill on Mill Stream ...... 228
Reist, Millport .......cooceevcereenrneceneane
Rine on Big Beaver .................. .

Risser on Big Chicques
Ruth on Conestoga
Root on Conoy
Sacks on Strickler Run
J. Senscnig on Conestoga ...

Share’s on Share's Run ..........
Sheaffer on Hammer Creek ...

..............................

Sheaffer on Big Chicques ........

Shenk on Big Chicques ....ccoeerervcuneee

J. Shenk on Big Chickesalunga ........ 158
J. Shenk on Chickesalunga ................ 198
J. Shenk on Peques ..............

D. Shirk on Conestoga ......
Lem Shirk on Conestoga
Shoemaker on Reiff Run
Showalter on Cocalico, near Denver 126a
Smith on Weaver Run ...
J. Snavely on Big Chiques ................
Snyder on Snyder Run, Manor
Snyder on Snyder Run
Sook on Conestoga ....eeveecvercereenrereenene
Spring Grove Forge on Conestoga .... 105
Stauffer on Mill Stream .....ccoueceueennnnn 163
Stauffer Fulling Mill on Mellinger

Run .................

.....................

Stehman on Little Conestoga ........... 201
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Steman on Carter Creek ............ 252 Wolf on Conestofa v 234

Stoner on Middle Creek ..o 90 Yundt on Hammer Creek ... e 49
Stoner on Little Conestoga .....c.oeeu. 221 Zook on CocaliCo .orrveeerennens e 230
Stoneroad on Big Chiques ... Zug on Br Conestoga ...coeecevvvveeen,. 79
Stouffer-Zartman ........cceeee. No Name on Big Chicques
Strickler on Strickler Run 15, 38, 113, 158, 186
Stubbs on Puddle Duck Creek ......... 86 No Name on Carter 252
Stuck on Conestoga, near Pool Forge 57 No Name on Cedar Run 157, 231
Swarr on Conestoga .vevviniivenennns 156 No Name on Cocalico 130, 132, 235
Swarr on Kauffman Run ..... e OB No Name on Conestoga
Valley Mills on Cooper Run ............. 106 4, 35, 129, 191, 207
Weaver Mill on Weaver Run ... 231 No Name on Conowingo 160
Weaver on Cedar Run ... 231 No Name on Devil’s Run 16
C. Weaver on Conestoga ........coeuveenes 195 No Name on Donegal 204
Weiler on Little Conestoga ......c.occee. 64 No Name on Grove's Run 206
Wenger on Conestoga ..oveeeecninninns 49 No Name on Little Chieques

a5 Wentz on Muddy Creek ... 237 69, 85, 135, 215, 236
Windsor Forge .ooovveivecivennn v 108 No Name on Meeting Run 204

- Withers o PeqUeh ... 197 No Name on Middle Creek 242

' Witwer on Witwer Run ... e 184 No Name on Mill Creek 178, 247

Witmer on Witmer Run ... 190 No Name on Pequea Creek 6

? P = 4 David Witmer Mills on Pequea ....... 50 No Name on Stemen Run
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Rohrer Mill (No. 181)
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EARLY SIERVEYS IN. LANCASTEER ' .

COUNTY
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Recently-purchased copies of Taylor'
surzeys provide a mine of data for the
research worker in the Society’s library.
The extent of lands is listed in this

article.

In Manuscript Book No. 76213, Chester County Historical Society,
made by Isaac Taylor. Records kept by Henry Pierce,

Lttt L )

treasurer of Chester County; book preserved by
a descendant, Alfred Cope Garrett, 1940

LANDS ON THE RIVER PEQUEA

Buyer
James Logan
Rebeka Shaw
Rich. Cloudnow

Danl. Cookson
Robt. Way
James Clemson-
Joseph Jarvis |
Thomas Clark
William Clark
Elizabeth Pace
John Marlow
Joseph Hickman
Thomnas Falknor
Morgan Jones
Thomas Story
Daniel Fieré’
John' Fiere
Rich’d Dayis
Isaac Lefevre
Thomas Falkner
Philip Fiere

Acres
1000
300

630
350
600
460

300
250
250

416
250
200 -

1768
333
333
333
333
333
333

Date of Survey
July 1713

June 1714

April 1714
May 1715

»”

E2]

July 1713

BT

October 71714
May 1715
December 1710

”»

.33

October 1710

P 3

-

ot A

”
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Thomas Falkner
John Fiere
Danl. Fiere

Anthony Pryetter
Abraham Duboies
Harman Ritzman
Daniel Fiere
Philip Fiere

Isaac Lefevre
Joseph English
Israel Taylor
Peter Beller

Danl. Harmer
Michael Daniger
Peter Leman
Martin Kendig
John Funk

Jacob Miller
Christoph Franciscus
Henry Carpenter
Henry Hanes
Wyandle Bowman

Jon. Funk

John Heer
Christian Heer
Martin Mileyn
Joseph Steman
Joseph Steman
Martin Kendig
Martin Kendig
Amos Strettle
Richd. Robinson
William Bradford
Michael Shank

Christian Stainer
Martin Boyer
Hans Boyer
Jacob Hoober
John McDaniel
Collum Macquire
Christoph Franciscus
Owen O’Neal
Francis Worley
William Shereild
Col. Jon French

L A s

Nt Su? s s

—. LANCASTER COUNTY HISTORICAL SOCIETY

50
50
100
150

700
1000
1100

. 600

300
300
300

1000
250
450
300
300

1000
500

1000

500

500
500
200

50
110

800
3330
1000

125

250

400

100
200
150
200
500
200
500

SPRINC

October 1716

August 1717
Ooctober 1710

Ocpo’ber 1716

»
”
»
”
»

October 1717

. Octo};)er 1710

»

»
»
»
»

June 1718
October 1710
April 1714
October 1712
April 1717
May 1712
June 1718

June 1718
May”l7l8
October 1717
June 1718

May 1717
May ’1718
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N

LANDS ON THE RIVER SUSQUEHANNA

Stephen Atkinson 300 May 1718
James Patterson 100 October 1718

LANDS ON THE CONESTOGA RIVER

John Cartlidge 300 October 1717

Francis Worley : 225 »

Richard Carter 200 May 1718

Martin Kendig 250 October 1716

James Hendricks 300 ?

John Hendricks 200 »

Thomas Baldwin 200 »

Tho. Gale . 200 »

John Linvell 200 »

Jeremy Langhorn 350 October 1717

Melchior Breneman 500 »

Hans Moyer 350 »

John Kage 100 »

Thomas Simmons 200 May 1717

John Farrer 300 »

Benedictus Venerick 200 October 1716

Hans Meykien 600 April 1714

Charle Christopher 100 » :

Isaac Lefevre 350 »

Hans Graff , 250 October 1716

Hans Graff - 50 May 1718

John Bendeley 500 October 1710

Hans Hess 100 May 1718 . :

Christian Jonce 100 » :

Hans Nesly, Senr. )
) 200 » .5

Hans Nesly, Junr. ) i

Christoph Franciscus 200 »

William Willis 225 » ’

Edmund Cartlidge 300 October 1717 ;

Jacob Londus ) : !
) - 150 » i

Woolrich Howre ) .

William Hugh 575 May 1717 i

;

ANDS ON THE NORTHWEST SIDE OF CONESTOGOE RIVER

Abraham Herr 600 October 1717
Alexander Buhe 200 »

Isaac Coffman )

Melchior Erisman ) 700 »

Hans Dubert )



Hans Browpather

Christian Hersey 500
Hans Browpather 700
Henry Pare 300
Hans Snider 200
Michael Miller 200
Andreas Coffman 200
John Wittmor 200
Henry Muselman 200
Michael Coffman
children 500
Michael Pockman 265
Hans Shank 200
Jacob Griter ) ]
o ) 700
Jacob Hostator ) '
Michael Shank 200
Henry Pare 200
Toris Eby 300
Hans Rudolph .Moyer 200
Henry Funk- = 400
John Funk’ 150
Jacob Funk 200
Jacob Mileyn 200
Hans Sansiman 200

LANDS IN THE LONDON COMPAXNY'S

LANCASTER COUNTY HISTORICAL SOCIETY

3t
” .
o
May 1718

June 1718

”

May 1718

_ October 1717 .

May 1718
~October 1717
‘May 1718

”

~
oo~

TRACT ON CONESTOGOE'

Which Said Tract was Surveyed the 16th day of May 1717

Hans Henry Neff 300
Jacob Graff 200
Hans Brand 200
John Graff _ . 200
Hans Pare : 400
Peter Yortee 200
- Derick Johnson - - —-500
Felix Londus 400
Jacob Kendrik = 400
Isaac Fredrik 250
Andreas Saldenrich 200 -
Jacob Londus 200
Benjamin Wittmer 250 -
John Musgrove 600

Editor’s- Note: Browpather is Brubaker; Hersey, Hershey; Pare, Bare; Coffman,
huffman; Wittmor, Witmer; Pockman, Baughman; Griter, Greider or Kreider;
ostator, Hostetter; Mileyn, Mylin.]
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TWO HUNDRED YEARS AND MORE
OF THE

FIRST REFORMED CHURCH
LANCASTER, PA.

THE BEGINNINGS

Two centuries ago the infant city of Lancaster stood on the very
frontier of colonial Pennsylvania. In the years immediately pre-
ceding its founding (in.1730) many Reformed families from the
Palatinate and Switzerland settled in the Conestoga Valley. As
there was no ordained minister amongst them, regular services
were first conducted by a layman, John Conrad Tempelmann, a
pious tailor from Heidelberg, Germany, who served in this way
for many years and finally was ordained in 1752. In a report to
Holland, dated February 13, 1733, he writes: “ The church in
Chanastocka had its origin in the year 1725, with small gatherings
in houses here and there, with the reading of a sermon and with
song and prayer, but, on account of the lack of a minister, without
the administration of baptism and the Lord’s Supper.”

G Z_«)%z e

S16NATURE OF CONRAD TEMPELMANN

The principal place of meeting socon became known as the Hill
Church (now Salem, Heller’s) and those who gathered there from
far and near were Known as the Conestoga Congregation. Here
Tempelmann served both as schoolmaster and as “ Reader.” On
October 14, 1727, John Philip Boehm visited the Hill Church and
celebrated the first communion in the Conestoga Valley, when fifty-
nine persons communed. On one of his later occasional visits,
May 31, 1730, he had the congregation adopt a constitution and
place itself under the care of the Amsterdam Classis.

Two years later there were six meeting places in * Chanastocka.”
Three of these were served by John Peter Miller, who afterwards

3



4 First REForMED CHURCH

went over to the Seventh Day Dunkers and succeeded Conrad
Beissel as head of the Ephrata community. The other three,
among them Lancaster, were served by Conrad Tempelmann. His
report to Holland contains the earliest information about the Lan-
caster congregation : it then had thirty members, and its elders were
John Jacob Hock, Andrew Halsbrun, and a third whose last name
has been effaced but who may have been Nicholas Treber (or
Trewer, or Drewer), who was an elder in 1740 and again in 1748.
As Boehm never visited Lancaster in these early years, it is prob-
able that the congregation was organized by Tempelmann, some
time after Boehm’s organization of the Hill Church in 1730. If
this is the fact, that excellent man, the father of the Reformed
Church in the Conestoga Valley, was the founder of the First
Church in Lancaster, though he was not a resident of the town.

For the years between Tempelmann’s report to Holland and
the opening of the church record in 1736 no information is avail-
able except that one child was baptized i 1733 and one in 1734.
It seems that during this period the members communed at the
Hill Church, and also that Tempelmann ceased to serve the Lan-
caster congregation some time before May, 1735.




The & Log Chureh, 1736-1752
Ministers:

Joun Jacos Hock, June, 1736 *~October, 1737.*

JorN BarRTHOLOMEW RIEGER, April, 1739-February, 1743.*
CaspArR Lupwic ScuNoORR, November, 1744—March, 1746.*
Lupwic FerpinanD Vock, January—December, 1750.

PriLip WiLLiam OTTERBEIN, August, 1752—( September, 1758).

The Old Log Church was the first house of worship erected in
the new town of Lancaster and the sixth Reformed church built in
the province. The story of its building and dedication is told in
the records of the congregation: “ Now as regards the building of
our church, the beginning was made in the year 1736, and by the
help of God it was so far completed that on the 20th of June, or

™

e\
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" CONSECRATEOTSN .

Orp Loc CHURCH

upon the festival of Holy Whitsuntide, we held divine worship in
it for the first time. The teacher and preacher, or pastor, called
to this office of God, was the reverend and truly pious John Jacob
Hock. Guided by God’s spirit, he chose as his introduction [Scrip-
ture lesson] the words in the Prophecy of Isaiah, in the 35th chap-
ter and the first verse, where it is written: ‘ The wilderness and
the solitary place shall be glad for them; and the desert shall re-
joice, and blossom as the rose.” But the text was the latter clause
of the fourth verse of the 103d Psalm, which reads: * Who crown-

* These are the dates of the first and last baptisms recorded by the several
ministers and probably do not always give the exact limits of the pastorate.

5



6 First REForMED CHURCH

eth thee with lovingkindness and tender mercies.” And we joined
with each other in singing the 84th Psalm.”

The Old Log Church stood on the site of the present building,
but back some distance from Orange Street. Originally the
ground was held under a lease, but on October 5, 1741, James
Hamilton, in response to “the application and request” of the
congregation, executed a deed in which he “ freely and absolutely ”
gave the lot “ for the promotion of religion.” In 1746 the ad-
joining lot to the east was purchased, upon which a school house
was erected. In the same year a steeple was added to the church
to receive a bell, for the purchase of which (and a large clock) the
members subscribed 60 pounds ($150.00) in Pennsylvania cur-
rency. These had been bought, on December 27, 1745, from the
Ephrata Dunkers, who at that time discontinued the use of such
“ Babylonian trash ” and tore down their spire. Until the steeple
of the Old Log Church was completed the bell hung on the hickory
tree near the Court House under which the Indians held their
councils and which gave the settlement its first name of Hickory
Town. An authentic tradition relates that at a later time when
Indians made an attack upon the town a quick-witted woman,
Salome LeRoy Naumann, rushed into the church and gave the
alarm by ringing the bell, whose peals could be heard four miles.
When the church was removed in 1752, the clock was sold for 32
pounds, but the bell continued in use until 1774, when on an in-
tensely cold day it burst as it was summoning the people to worship.

It seems that at the dedication of the new church a reorganiza-
tion was effected, for in connection with that service all the places
on the consistory were filled. In the church record the following
entry appears immediately after the report of the dedicatory serv-
ice: “ As regards the election of the first elders of the church, John
Henry Bassler, Felix Miiller, John Gorner, and Peter Dorr were
elected by the congregation and declared duly qualified. . . . The
first deacons elected were John Killer and John Stephen Ram-
mertsberger.” At the expiration of the first year Elders John
Henry Bassler and Peter Dorr were succeeded by Peter Balspach
and Frederick Strubel.

The first pastor, not an ordained minister but “called to this
office of God,” was the John Jacob Hock who as elder had been
one of the signers of Tempelmann’s report to Holland in 1733.
It is probable that he conducted services after Tempelmann ceased



TrE OLp Loc CHURCH 7

coming to Lancaster, and gave catechetical instruction to the chil-
dren. Whatever his position while the church was building, it
may safely be assumed that he was the leader in the enterprise, and
also that the church officers elected on the day of the dedication
were his most zealous co-laborers in the erection of the new church
“in the midst of the wilderness, in a new world, in a newly or-
ganized county, and in a newly laid-out town” (Dr. Harbaugh).

During this first pastorate, of only sixteen months, thirty-four
infants were baptized, showing that, as Boehm reports, the congre-
gation was “ pretty strong.” What brought John Jacob Hock’s
ministry at Lancaster (and Cocalico, now Bethany, Ephrata) to
an end is not known, but it was not because a successor had been
found, for the charge was vacant during the following seventeen
months. The record shows that no baptisms were performed dur-
ing this period, indicating that no distant minister visited Lancaster
in that time. In fact there were then only three Reformed min-
isters in the provmce, while the congregations numbered twenty-
three.

The second to minister in the Old Log Church was John Bar-
tholomew Rieger, who served for four years. He was a native of
the Palatinate, had been for a few months a student in Heidelberg
University, and then had gone to the University of Basel. He was
ordained before he came to this country. Shortly after his arrival
in September, 1731, he became pastor of the Reformed congrega-
tions in Philadelphia and Germantown, and a few years later he
was minister at Amwell, N. J. The fact that his brother, Jacob
Frederick, was a practicing physician in Lancaster doubtless had
much to do with his coming here in April, 1739. For his support,
a letter of Boehm to Holland records, “ The High German Re-
formed congregation in Lancaster, Canastoka, resolved to con-
tribute fifteen pounds [yearly] of this country’s currency,” and
on February 17, 1740, the elders, Jost Frenler, Niclaus Treber, and
John de Huff, over their signatures pledged the “ unfailing contri-
bution ” of this sum.

Originally Mr. Rieger had been engaged for a term of two
years, but at the end of that time he was retained, apparently for
another two years. In the latter part of his pastorate difficulties
arose between him and his people, the reasons for which are not
clear. The large number of baptisms in every year of his min-
istry and the fact that under his leadership the congregation ob-
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tained title to the church lot indicate no lack of interest or diligence
on his part. Perhaps the principal, if not the only, reason for the
loss of his people’s confidence was his independent and tolerant
attitude, construed as proving him not “echt reformirt.” He is
reported to have said that, if faced with the choice, he would take
communion from a godly Lutheran preacher rather than from an
ungodly Reformed preacher, without feeling “any scruples of
conscience about it.” And when, towards the end of 1742, Count
Zinzendorf visited Lancaster, in the interest of a movement which
was believed to aim at the extinction of separate denominations,
and attended services in the Old Log Church, Mr. Rieger made"
much of him, took him to his house, and the next Sunday in his
sermon praised the piety and doctrines of the Moravian brethren.
Sectarian prejudices were then so strong that such liberalism was
certain to meet with quick and violent disapproval. However,
the difficulties, whatever their origin, were resolved by Mr.
Rieger’s departure to Holland to pursue the study of medicine.

During the vacancy which followed, lasting for a year and a
half, the congregation was not visited by any ordained minister.
In November, 1744, the Rev. Caspar Ludwig Schnorr arrived in
this country from Zweibriicken, Germany, and immediately was
called to Lancaster. His was to be a short and troubled ministry.
In June, 1745, John Bartholomew Rieger returned from Holland
and began the practice of medicine in Lancaster, at the same time
preaching at Schaefferstown and Seltenreich’s. Soon he began
efforts to supplant the Rev. Mr. Schnorr. In November the latter
wrote to the Classis of Amsterdam that Rieger offered to build a
parsonage and to secure a bell for the church if he were made
pastor again. In the same mail went a letter from Rieger, alleg-
ing that at a Sunday Service Schnorr had accused him of keeping
money given to him by the Classis for the use of the congregation,
and asking the Classis to establish his innocence. About the same
time Christopher Saur, who had published a German Bible against
whose alleged errors Schnorr had issued a warning, openly charged
Schnorr with drunkenness. In the spring of 1746 the discredited
pastor removed to Germantown, N. Y., where, according to the
records of the Dutch Reformed Church, the “ many misdemean-
ors” of this * ecclesiastical vagabond ” scon put an end to his
ministerial career.
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For a few months Mr. Rieger supplied the vacant pulpit, but
his efforts to become the regular pastor were unavailing, princi-
pally because of his friendly attitude toward the local sects.
Finally his services were dispensed with altogether. He continued
to preach to his congregations in the country and later took an ac-
tive part in the organization and proceedings of the Coetus.*

For more than three years the congregation was now without a
pastor. Fortunately throughout this interval Michael Schiatter
took a great interest in its affairs. Having been commissioned
by the Synods of Holland as Missionary Superintendent, in ad-
dition to serving as pastor at Philadelphia and Germantown he per-
formed with tact and tireless industry the labors of a good bishop,
traveling great distances through the wilderness, establishing order
in the churches, and organizing (in 1747) the Coetus of Pennsyl-
vania, a judicatory subordinate to the Synods of Holland until it
declared itself independent in 1792, In September, 1746, within
three weeks after his arrival in Philadelphia, he was in Lancaster,
to preach in the Old Log Church and to effect an amicable sepa-
ration between Mr. Rieger and the congregation. Afterwards he
made more than a dozen visits, preaching, administering baptism
and the Lord’s Supper, ordaining and installing church officers.

In August, 1748, two young ministers landed at Philadelphia,
Dominicus Bartholomaus and John Jacob Hochreutiner. The
former preached in the Old Log Church on September 4th and
the latter one week later, Schlatter being present on each occasion.
When the congregation reported that either one would be atcept-
able as pastor, Mr. Hochreutiner was assigned to Lancaster and
Mr. Bartholomaus to Tulpehocken. Mr. Rieger was appointed to
install the new minister on October 16th. On the preceding Fri-
day an elder was in Philadelphia to bring him to Lancaster when
a gun from which he was attempting to extract the ball exploded,
killing him instantly. Deprived in this tragic manner of a regular
pastor, the congregation during the ensuing year had the oc-
casional services of Mr. Bartholomaus. The statement that the
new minister at Falkner Swamp, the Rev. John Philip Leydich,
also served as supply probably has no other foundation than a visit
by him and the Rev. George Michael Weiss to Lancaster in Au-
gust, 1749, on the customary annual tour of the churches.

* His grave and that of his brother are a few steps in rear of the present
church,



10 Fiest REFORMED CHURCH

The congregation might have suffered much more from the lack
of a regular pastor during this period had it not been for the aid
of the schoolmaster, John Hoffmann. On May 4, 1747, he signed
a contract in which, in addition to his duties as teacher, he engaged
to read sermons on Sunday, as long as there was no pastor, and
in summer to give catechetical instruction to the children. As he
held the position of schoolmaster for thirty years, it may be as-
sumed that during several later vacancies he rendered the same
important service.

In October, 1749, the Rev. John Conrad Steiner upon his ar-
rival in this country immediately received and accepted a call to
Lancaster. The Coetus decided that he should live at Muddy
Creek, “ where there was a good parsonage,” and that he should
serve the congregations at that place, at Earltown, at White Oaks,
and at Lancaster, preaching once every four weeks at each place.
Instead of occupying this charge, Mr. Steiner put himself at the
head of disaffected members of Mr. Schiatter’s congregation and
remained in Philadelphia as their pastor.

The Rev. Ludwig Ferdinand Vock, sixty years of age, a new
arrival in this country, became pastor of the Old Log Church in
January, 1750, engaged for only one year. By midsummer he
had divided the congregation and the church was closed against
him by his opponents, who, however, soon relented and permitted
him and his adherents to meet in it. The Coetus warned the con-
gregation to dismiss him at the end of the year, as “ being every-
where in evil repute because of his conduct.” This was done and
nothing is known of his later career. The Coetus appointed as a
committee of supply the ministers Leydich, Weiss, and Lischy,
and the congregation was instructed “to send them the necessary
invitations in advance.”

In July, 1752, Michael Schlatter returned from a visit to
Europe, bringing with him six young ministers, who had just been
ordained by the Classis of Amsterdam.. Within a month one of
these, the Rev. Philip William Otterbein, had become the pastor
of the Lancaster congregation. He was the first of many able
preachers who have occupied the pulpit of the First Church and
who have been eminent for their piety and prominent in the coun-
sels of the Reformed Church. In the early months of his pastor-
ate plans were formed for the building of a new church. Michael
Schlatter relates that when, on June 14, 1747, he administered the
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Lord’s Supper to 225 communicants, “the multitude assembled

. was so great that the church could contain scarcely half of
them.” The Lancaster congregation, next to the one in Phila-
delphia, was now the most important in the province of Pennsyl-
vania. Growth in membership had made a larger building neces-
sary and the primitive house of worship that had well served the
needs of a pioneer period no longer satisfied the taste of a less
rigorous time. Before the year was out the Old Log Church was
removed to the northeast corner of Orange and Christian streets,
where it served as a dwelling until it was destroyed by fire on
January 4, 1836.




The O Htone Thureh, 1753-1852

Ministers:

Pamwip WiriaM OTtTeRBEIN, (August, 1752)-September,
1758.

Henry WiLLiam Stoy, October, 1758-January, 1763.
WirriaM HeNnpEL, D.D., January, 1765-September, 1769.
CrarLes LEwis BoeaME, February, 1771-July, 1775.
JorN CoNraDp ALBERT HELFFENSTEIN, Jan., 1776-July, 1779.
JorN THEOBALD FABER, September, 1779-September, 1782.
WiLLiam Henper, D.D., 1782-February, 1794.
CarisTIAN Lupwic BECkEr, D.D., March, 1795-June, 1806.
JorN Henry HorrFMEIER, May, 1806-1831.
MarTIN BRUNNER, May, 1832-1839.
GEORGE W. GLESSNER, July, 1840-March, 1847.
NatuAN A. KEYES, April, 1847-January, 1850.
Henry HarBaves, D.D., March, 1850-(September, 1860).

The building of the Old Stone Church was begun scon after
Mr. Otterbein assumed the pastorate. Unfortunately the records
do not tell when the corner-stone was laid nor when the church
was consecrated. In the space in front of the wine-glass pulpit

OLp StoNe CHURCH
Erected 1753

stood the communion table within a circular balustrade around

which the members gathered to receive the Lord’s Supper. The

gallery was not built until 1769 and did not extend along the sides

of the room until the interior was remodeled in 1822, when, also,
12
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a chancel replaced the wine-glass pulpit and communion circle, and
a wooden floor was laid over the original brick pavement. In
1784, when the second bell owned by the church burst (as the first
had done ten years earlier), the two bells now still in use were
imported from England and a steeple was built to hold them. At
the same time an ornate glass chandelier was purchased, which for
sixty-seven years “ gave light to all within the house.”

An interesting relic of the Old Stone Church is the lock which
now bolts the doors of the front west entrance, It bears the fol-
lowing inscription: -

Nun gehen wir zur Kirchen ein,

Und unser Heiland Jesus Christ
Wolle bei uns sein,

Ja, nicht nur heit allein

Und so lang wir auf Erden sein,

Sondern so lang das unsere Seele lebet,

Jesus Gottes Sohn hat die ehren Kron;

Er wolle doch uns auch helfen

In dem Himmels Thron.

Ich bin gekommen die Siinder zur Busse zu rufen, und nicht
die Frommen. Matth. 9, 13.*
Peter Kieffer, 1756.

In the early 1760°s a lot was bought on the east side of Duke
Street (now Nos. 45-49) upon which a parsonage was built and
a new school house. To provide funds for these purposes a lot-
tery was conducted, in which St. James’ Episcopal Church took

part.

In the last year of Mr. Otterbein’s ministry he and his people
cordially cooperated in establishing stricter church discipline.
One of its features was the requirement that everyone, * without
exception,” who desired to réceive communion should have a
previous interview with the minister. This remained the custom
for nearly eighty years.

* Now go we into the church, and may our Savior Jesus Christ be with
us; yea, not only today and as long as we are upon earth, but as long as our
soul lives. Jesus, Son of God, has the crown of honor; may He, on
Heaven's throne, help us too.

I am come to call the sinners to repentance, and not the righteous. Mt.
ix, 13.
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Mr. Otterbein’s last pastorate was in Baltimore, Maryland
(1774-1813). His evangelistic zeal led to the formation within
many congregations of societies, the purpose of which was to
effect a revival in the church, but which in 1800 combined to form
the denomination, the United Brethren in Christ, which owns
Otterbein as its founder.

William Stoy was an able scholar and a somewhat eccentric
character. For some years he was secretary of the Coetus. As
he could not use the Dutch language, his reports to Holland were
written in Latin. After his Lancaster pastorate he studied medi-
cine in Europe and upon his return to this country practiced his
profession in Lebanon, Pa., at the same time preaching in the
.Tulpehocken Host Church. Several of his remedies were exten-
* sively used and he was one of the early advocates of vaccination
for smallpox.

During the vacancy which existed for the next two years the
Rev. John Waldschmidt, pastor at Cocalico, served as supply.
He was appointed by the Coetus and was to be assisted by other
ministers as opportunity offered.

Dr. William Hendel was a leader in the Reformed Church.
During his second pastorate he helped to found Franklin College,
of which he became the Vice-President and a trustee. He was
chairman of the synodical committee that prepared the first Re-
formed Church Hymnal. In his first pastorate he baptized, on
December 14, 1766, the infant daughter of Nicholas and Catharine
Hauer, who after her marriage lived in Frederick, Maryland, and
became known to fame as Barbara Fritchie. Later, while pastor
in Philadelphia, he faithfully ministered to the sick and dying
during the yellow fever epidemic until he himself fell a victim to
the disease, dying on September 29, 1798.

During the vacancy of the year 1770, Casper Wack, a youth of
seventeen, whom the Rev. Caspar Weyberg, of Philadelphia, had
taken into his home and was educating for the ministry, supplied
the Lancaster congregation with preaching and catechetical instruc-
tion.

The next regular pastor, Charles Lewis Boehme, was a graduate
of Heidelberg University and had served a charge in the Palatinate
before coming to America. He was highly esteemed by his breth-
ren in the ministry and in 1773 was President of Coetus. Besides
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conducting services in the German language he preached regu-
larly in French.

The Rev. Mr. Helffenstein’s ministry encountered difficulties
created by the Revolution and by the famine of 1777. Dr. Har-
baugh says of him: “ It was a rare blessing which this congrega-
tion enjoyed in those trying times to have for their pastor one to
whom the highest of all earthly titles belonged—a good man!”
He was an eloquent preacher and a faithful pastor. Several vol-
umes of his sermons were published and were frequentiy re-
printed, and an English translation of one of them had a wide
circulation. He often preached to the Hessian prisoners of war
interned in Lancaster.

John Theobald Faber came ‘to this country in 1766 and im-
mediately became pastor of the Goshenhoppen charge, to which
he returned from Lancaster and in which he remained until his
death in 1788. Of his Lancaster ministry neither history nor
tradition tells us anything, but in his other charge he was greatly
beloved.

Dr. Becker was thirty-seven years of age when he came to this
country. In Germany he had already distinguished himself as
scholar, preacher, and author. The members of the Lancaster
congregation regarded him with the deepest affection and the
spiritual interests of the church prospered under his ministry.
He prepared many young men for preaching the gospel. A vol-
ume of his sermons, published in 1810, met with a warm recep-
tion. .

Like Dr. Becker, Mr. Hoffmeier was born in Anhalt-Coeten and
was educated at Halle. Both men came to America in the same
ship, in the summer of 1793. Mr. Hoffmeier ranked high as a
preacher and as a pastor manifested extraordinary interest in the
sick and the poor. He was buried beneath the pulpit of the Old
Stone Church.

Martin Brunner was the first regular pastor of native birth and
the first to preach in the English as well as in the German language.
At the conclusion of his ministry he continued to reside in Lan-
caster until his death, which occurred in 1852. In his last years
he translated the church records into English and transcribed
them with great care.

The Rev. Mr. Glessner preached in both languages. Under his
care the congregation grew and prospered. At the end of his
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pastorate there were about two hundred and twenty-five members.

When Mr. Keyes became pastor in 1847 the intention was to
have a second regular pastor, to minister in German. When none
could be secured, the Rev. D. Y. Heisler, of Columbia, was engaged
to supply German preaching. This arrangement was continued
until 1850, when the members who preferred English services
formed a separate congregation (St. Paul’s) and took with them
Mr. Keyes as their pastor. In the mother church, services were
conducted in both languages until in 1870 the German portion of
the membership withdrew and organized as St. John’s Reformed
Church.

Within little more than a year after Dr. Harbaugh came to
Lancaster the congregation decided upon building a new church
and, beside it, a new parsonage. The property owned on Duke
Street was sold for $7850.00. The last service in the old church
was held on March 21, 1852. The next morning the members
removed their cushions from the pews and the work of demolition
immediately began.

Oup Locx (See p. 13)



The Pregent Chureh, 1852-1936

Ministers:

Henry HarsaucH, D.D., (March, 1850)-September, 1860.
Awmos H. Kremer, D.D., April, 1861-October, 1877.

Jorn A. PetErs, D.D., November, 1878-November, 1884.
Jon M. Trrzer, D.D., February, 1885-November, 1904.
(Pastor Emeritus, November 26, 1904—June 16, 1905.)

W. Stuart CramEer, D.D., February 26, 1905-November 6,
1930. (Assistant Pastor, August, 1901-February, 1905.)
Wirtriam H. BorLman, D.D., April, 1932-

The corner stone of the old church became the corner stone of
the new. It was laid on the afternoon of May 30, 1852. On De-
cember 19th the basement was consecrated, and in this room serv-
ices were held until the completed church was dedicated on Febru-
ary 19, 1854.

PRESENT STRUCTURE
Erected 1852

On this occasion Dr. B. S. Schneck preached in German, the
84th Psalm (used at the dedication of the Old Log Church) and a
German anthem were sung. The rest of the service was in Eng-
lish. In the afternoon there was a service for the children and in
the evening the Rev. George W. Glessner preached in English.

In 1891 the church was refrescoed, and again in 1904. In the
latter year new pews and new chancel furniture * were installed.

* Carved in Oberammergau by a nephew of Anton Lang.

17
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In recent decades many memorials have been erected—windows,
tablets, hymn boards, etc. In 1921 a building for the use of the
church school was constructed in the rear of the church.

Dr. Harbaugh was an eloquent preacher, a prolific writer of both
prose and poetry, an indefatigable student. Many of his books,
pamphlets, and poems (including the familiar hymn, “ Jesus, I Live
to Thee”) were written in the study of the First Church. The
custom, still observed, of holding an early morning Christmas serv-
ice was inaugurated by him. He founded “ The Guardian,” a
popular religious monthly that was published for forty years,
which after his death was edited by Dr. Benjamin Bausman, a
son of this church. In 1864 Dr. Harbaugh went to the Theological
Seminary in Mercersburg as Professor of Didactic and Practical
Theology, a position in which he served until his death three years
later.

During the pastorate of Dr. Peters, the worthy successor of Dr.
Harbaugh, the congregation continued to prosper. In early life
Dr. Peters was for a time Principal of Franklin and Marshall
Academy, and for ten years immediately preceding his death he
- was President of the Literary Department of Heidelberg Univer-
sity, at Tiffin, Ohio.

Dr.. Titzel’s wide interests and broad scholarship made him a
leader in the community and the denomination. He was a mem-
ber of the Peace Commission, a member of the committee that
prepared the Directory of Worship and of the Committee to revise
the Constitution of the Reformed Church, and in other important
positions rendered valuable service. In his last years he was dis-
abled by a paralytic stroke, during which time W. Stuart Cramer,
the first Assistant Pastor, performed all ministerial duties.

Dr. Cramer’s pastorate—his only one—was the longest in the
history of the congregation, if reckoned from the time of his in-
stallation as Assistant Pastor. He was a faithful shepherd of his
people and active in civic affairs. * The History of the First Re-
formed Church,” published in 1904, was prepared by him. Dur-
ing the World War he organized and was Secretary of the National
Service Commission of the Reformed Church, and was granted
leave of absence to serve as Secretary of the War Time Commis-
sion of the Federal Council of the Churches of Christ in America.
In 1924, together with Dr. Charles E. Schaeffer, he dedicated the
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Reformed Memorial Church at Chateau Thierry, France, erected
with money secured by him from members of the Reformed
Church in the United States. He died suddenly on the evening
of November 6, 1930, a few minutes after entering his home upon
his return from New York where he had attended a meeting of
the Administrative Committee of the Federal Council. At his
funeral, on November 10th, one hundred and twenty-five ministers
of the Reformed and other churches were present.

The pastorate of Dr. Bollman, now in its fifth year, has been a
time of harmony and progress. In all its activities the congrega-
tion gives evidence of vigorous life. The loyal cooperation of the
members with their pastor in furthering the material and spiritual
interests of the church is a pledge that the future will augment the
rich heritage bequeathed to it out of its long past.

In the congregational records (imperfectly kept in several early years)
are entered, up to May 1, 1936:

Baptisms - - - - - 8863 Marriages - - - - 6216
Admissions - - - - 5279 Deaths - - - - - 4486

Statistics for the year ending May 1, 1936:

Members -« =« « « « =« « = =« =« « - -« - 6N
Communed « - « « - -« - - - - - - - - 5277
Unconfirmed members - - - - -« <« -« - « - - 210
Sunday School, total enrollment- - - - - « - - - 362
Contributions:
For benevolence- - <« - - - - - - - § 252600
For congregational purposes - - - - - = 11,959.40

Value of property - - - - -« - - - < - 17000000




aAvditional Jtems of Wistoric Fnterest Sleaned from
Chureh Records

1725. Small groups of Reformed people in Lancaster worship with the Hill
Church and in each other’s homes.

1732. Organization of congregation perfected.

1733. Earliest known baptism—that of Frederic Williar, infant son of
Caspar Williar,

1749. Third annual meeting of Coetus; the first of seventeen meetings held
in Lancaster.

1758. Church receives from Andrew Bersinger its first bequest—house and
half lot on King Street. :

1764. Ten pounds and four shillings contributed for support of a “rang-
ing ” company stationed on the frontier.

1769. A “David Tannenberg” organ installed—original case still fronting
present organ,

1771. Thomas and Richard Penn issue charter to “ The German Reformed
Congregation in the Borough of Lancaster, Pa.”

1776-1783. Forty-six members serve in the Continental Army; six on the
Committee of Safety.

1793. Synod organized April 27, the first of seventeen meetings held in this
church.

1797. Ninety pounds contributed to Trinity Church, York, whose church
had been destroyed by fire.

1832. Sunday Schoo! organized with nearly two hundred pupils.

1834. Parochial school discontinued and rooms rented to the Directors of
the Free Schools. . .

1851. Celebration of 115th anmiversary. *Centenary Discourses” by Dr.
Harbaugh,

1853. Building of present church and parsonage begun. Completed at 2
cost of $18,868.00.

1853-1873. Professors and students of College and Seminary regularly at-
tend this church.

1857-1902. Hiram Stamm served gratuitously as Choir Leader. -

1872. The dead, with a few exceptions, removed from graveyard to city
cemeteries.

1878. General Synod meets here. (Again in 1914.)

1883. Charter name changed to “The First Reformed Church of Lan-
caster, Pa.”

1886. Celebration of 150th anniversary. Sermons by Dr. Titzel and
others.

1923. Diffenbach Home for the Aged established at 319 North Duke Street.

1932-1936. Parsonage and church basement renovated and old debt of
$15,000.00 extinguished. Sunday School departmentalized. Perma-
nent Archives established.

20



NAME

Bartholomaus, Dominicus
Bassler, John Henry

Bausman, Benjamin (Dr.)
Becker, Christian Ludwig 12,
Beigsel, Conrad

Bersinger, Andrew

Boehm, John Phillip

Boehme, Charles Lewis 12~

Bollman, William H.(D.D.)2,17,-

Brunner, Martin 12
Cramer, W. Stuart (D.D.) 17,
de Huff, John

Dorr, Peter

Drewer, Nicholas

Faber, John Theobald 12,
Frantz, J. Andrew

Frederick, Jacob

Frenler, Jost

Fritchie, Barbara

Glessner, George W.(Rev)12,15,
Gorner, John

Halsbrun, Andrew

Hambright, Washington F.
Hamilton, James

Harbaugh, Henry 7,12,15,16,18,
Hauer, Catharine

Hauer, Nicholas

Heath, J. Clyde

Heisler, D. Y. (Rev.)
Helffenstein,John Conrad A.12,
Hendel, William (D.D.) 12,
Hochreutiner, John Jacob

Hock, John Jacob G55
Hoffman, John
Hoffmeier, John Henry 123
Kaller, Johmn
Keyes, Nathan A. 125

Kieffer, Elizabeth

Kieffer, Peter

Kremer, Amos (D.D.)

Leydich, John Philip (Rev.)
Miller, John Peter

Muller, Felix

Naumann, Salome LeRoy
Otterbein, Philip Wm 5,10,12-
Penn, Richard

Penn, Thomas

Peters, Dr.

Rammertsberger, John Stephen
Rieger , John Bartholomew 5,7-
Rohrer, Richard

Saur, Christopher
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NAME

Schlatter, Michael 9,
Schneck, B. §. (Dr.)

Schnorr, Caspar Ludwig Bis

Shaeffer, Charles (Dr.)

Stamm, Hiram

Steiner, John Conrad (Rev.)
Stoy, Henry William

Stoy, William

Tannenberg, David

Templemann, Conrad a5
Templemann, John Conrad
Titzel, John M. (D.D.)
Treber, Nicholas
Treber, Niclaus

Trewer, Nicholas

Vock, Ludwig Ferdinand(Rev) 5,
Wack, Casper

Waldschmidt, John (Rev.)
Weiss, George Michael (Rev.)
Weyberg, Caspar (Rev.)
Williar, Caspar

Williar, Frederic

Zinzendorf, Count

17,18,
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